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Answer to Petition for Review - 1 

A. INTRODUCTION 

 This case arises out of Roff Arden’s shooting and killing of a 

puppy owned by his neighbors, the Duffys.  The Ardens sought liability 

insurance coverage for this intentional act from their homeowners insurer, 

Hartford, that defended them under a reservation of rights.  The Ardens 

retained separate counsel who represented them in connection with 

coverage.  Hartford appointed the well-respected law firm of Forsberg & 

Umlauf, P.S., and attorneys John Hayes and Chris Gibson (“Attorneys”), 

to defend the Ardens in the Duffys’ civil suit arising from the puppy’s 

death, and paid Attorneys’ fees.  The Ardens’ coverage counsel 

acquiesced in this appointment.  Attorneys developed a settlement plan 

approved by the Ardens and their coverage counsel, and accepted by 

Hartford as well.  Attorneys engaged in settlement negotiations with the 

Duffys.  When the Mason County Prosecutor charged Arden with criminal 

animal cruelty, a choice beyond the ability of Attorneys to control in the 

civil case, and Hartford failed to fund settlement at the amounts the Duffys 

demanded, the Ardens blamed Attorneys and sued them for breach of 

fiduciary duty and for professional negligence.   

 The trial court ruled as a matter of law that (1) Attorneys breached 

no duty, including alleged duties to force Hartford to fund a settlement or 

to prevent the Mason County Prosecutor from charging Arden, (2) the 



Answer to Petition for Review - 2 

Ardens could not demonstrate proximate cause, and (3) the Ardens could 

not recover emotional distress damages or attorney fees, and dismissed the 

Ardens’ complaint.1  In a thoughtful, well-reasoned opinion, the Court of 

Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision.2   

 The Ardens now seek review of that decision by this Court.  Their 

petition is defective in that it fails to substantively address the issues it 

putatively raises, thereby waiving them.  On the single issue it does 

address, the petition is long on anti-defense bar rhetoric and short on any 

legal analysis under RAP 13.4(b) as to why this Court should grant 

review.  This Court should deny review. 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The Court of Appeals opinion sets out the facts in a fair, detailed 

fashion.  Op. at 3-8.  Attorneys concur in that statement of facts, but 

believe that the Ardens’ petition misstates key, often undisputed, facts 

requiring attention to those facts in this answer. 

 First, it is undisputed that Arden shot the Duffys’ 13-week-old lab 

puppy in December 2011.  CP 499-500, 585.  Roff Arden also allegedly 
                                                 

1  In resisting Attorneys’ motion for summary judgment, the Ardens egregiously 
misrepresented the record to the trial court, forcing Attorneys to file a motion to strike 
such false evidence and to seek sanctions.  CP 941-59.  Attorneys reserve the right to 
raise this issue, not addressed by the Court of Appeals in its opinion, should this Court 
grant review.  Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons, 120 Wn.2d 712, 725, 845 P.2d 
987 (1993).   
 

2  Commissioner Pierce denied a motion to transfer this case from Division II to 
this Court in Cause No. 92116-4.   
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reported to a Mason County deputy sheriff in the course of the Sheriff’s 

Office’s investigation that he shot another of his neighbors’ dogs 15 

months before.  CP 490.  Arden subsequently stipulated that the facts in 

the Mason County Sheriff’s investigation report were sufficient for a trier 

of fact to find him guilty of animal cruelty.  CP 591.  Those facts included 

the prior shooting of the Duffys’ dog.  Id. 

 Second, the Ardens retained attorney Jon Cushman to represent 

them Hartford initially denied coverage.  CP 539, 587-88.3  Cushman re-

tendered the case to Hartford and it agreed to defend the Ardens under a 

reservation of rights.  CP 119, 601.  Cushman accepted Attorneys’ 

appointment to represent his clients in the Duffys’ lawsuit.  CP 320, 601.  

Thereafter, Cushman remained actively involved in representing the 

Ardens on coverage, he was also involved in their defense and the 

settlement negotiations between the Duffys and Attorneys.  He had 

authority to speak for them.  CP 134, 166.  He agreed to the settlement 

plan developed by Attorneys and the Ardens, including their case 

evaluation and objective to have Hartford pay for any settlement.  CP 173, 

183, 693.  In fact, he insisted that Hartford, not the Ardens, would pay any 

settlement in full.  CP 447, 526.   
                                                 
 3  Hartford failed to note initially that the Duffys’ civil complaint against the 
Ardens pleaded negligence counts, claims clearly covered by the Hartford policy.  CP 
147-48, 315, 317. 
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On settlement, Cushman was aware of the Duffys’ initial demand 

of $55,000, CP 255, 329, 548, 611, and insisted that Hartford pay it in full.  

CP 329.  He knew Attorneys sought an extension to respond to the 

demand until the Duffys answered pending discovery.  CP 144, 189-90, 

330-32, 346, 518, 551-52, 624, 634.  Cushman knew and told the Ardens a 

civil settlement could not affect the Prosecutor’s criminal charging 

decision.  CP 554, 638, 651.  In fact, Cushman insisted Hartford settle the 

case when the Duffys clearly stated settlement would not impact the 

criminal matter.  CP 673-74.   

 Attorneys made clear to the Ardens that they represented them, not 

Hartford.  CP 365, 506.  They gave no advice to Hartford about coverage, 

CP 157, nor did they give the Ardens coverage advice, as Cushman did.  

CP 544.  While Attorneys had represented Hartford on coverage issues in 

the past, CP 204, nothing in the record indicates that Attorneys 

represented Hartford on any coverage matter at the same time they 

represented the Ardens, CP 165, 203-04, nor did the Ardens document the 

claim in their petition at 3 that Attorneys “regularly” represented Hartford 

on coverage matters.  See CP 203-04.  Attorneys had served as defense 

counsel appointed by Hartford in other matters, CP 165, 204.   
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C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

 The Ardens’ procedurally defective petition for review makes it 

very difficult for Attorneys to adequately respond to the “issues” the 

Ardens are actually raising in this Court, or for this Court to properly 

process their petition. 

 The Ardens suggest that they intend to address five issues in their 

petition for review, pet. at 1-2, but then they actually only argue one of 

those issues pertaining to the alleged conflict of interest of Attorneys.  

They fail to articulate precisely why review of the Court of Appeals’ 

careful opinion on that issue is merited under the specific criteria of RAP 

13.4(b).   

 Not only did the Ardens have an obligation to articulate the issues 

they believe this Court should address under RAP 13.4(c)(5), they then 

had an obligation to provide a “direct and concise statement of the reason 

why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established 

in section (b), with argument.”  RAP 13.4(c)(7).4  This they failed to do as 

                                                 
 4  By failing to comply with RAP 13.4(c)(7), the Ardens have waived those 
issues because they have not legitimately “raised” them within the meaning of RAP 
13.7(b) on this Court’s scope of review.  Clearly, the failure to set out an issue in the 
statement of issues, required under RAP 13.4(c)(5), means a party has not “raised” an 
issue, and the issue may not be raised for the first time in subsequent supplemental 
briefing.  State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (The petitioner 
there also failed to present argument on the issue in its petition as required by RAP 
13.4(c)(7).  157 Wn.2d at 624.).  It is no different if a party mentions an issue but then 
fails to address as is required by RAP 13.4(c)(7); it must be disregarded.  In re Detention 
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to their issues involving (1) the attorney judgment rule, (2) the notion that 

defense counsel is the trustee of “the insurance defense asset,” or (3) fee 

disgorgement. 

 The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review by this Court.  

RAP 13.4(b).  It is fully consistent with precedents of the Court of 

Appeals and this Court.  RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).5  Nor is it a case of substantial 

public importance as the Attorneys adhered faithfully this Court’s 

teachings in Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 

P.2d 1133 (1986), and the rule the Ardens seemingly propose to supplant 

Tank for insurance defense counsel is ill-conceived and unworkable.  RAP 

13.4(b)(4).  Simply put, Attorneys did not breach any fiduciary duty to the 

Ardens or commit professional negligence, and the trial court and Court of 

Appeals appropriately agreed.  

 (1) The Court of Appeals Correctly Discerned that Attorneys 
 Adhered to This Court’s Decision in Tank 

 
 The central focus of the Ardens’ petition is upon their unfounded 

allegation that Attorneys somehow violated the Tank court’s directions.  

Pet. at 11-17.  In Tank, this Court was very specific as to the obligations of 

defense counsel appointed by an insurer to represent an insured where the 

                                                                                                                         
of A.S., 138 Wn.2d 898, 922 n.10, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (in the absence of argument on 
an issue in a petition for review, Court will not consider the argument).   
 
 5  Indeed, the Ardens discuss only three cases in their petition. 
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insurer is defending under a reservation of rights (as well as the 

obligations of the insurer to the insureds).  The Tank court made it crystal 

clear that an insurer must retain “competent defense counsel” for the 

insured.  Id. at 388.  That counsel must clearly understand that the insured 

is the client.  Id.  The Tank court then articulated the specific obligations 

of defense counsel: 

… defense counsel retained by insurers to defend insureds 
under a reservation of rights must meet distinct criteria as 
well.  First, it is evident that such attorneys owe a duty of 
loyalty to their clients.  Rules of Professional Conduct 
5.4(c) prohibits a lawyer, employed by a party to represent 
a third party, from allowing the employer to influence his 
or her professional judgment.  In a reservation-of-rights 
defense, RPC 5.4(c) demands that counsel understand that 
he or she represents only the insured, not the company.  As 
stated by the court in Van Dyke v. White, 55 Wash.2d 601, 
613, 349 P.2d 430 (1960), “[t]he standards of the legal 
profession require undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his 
client.  No exceptions can be tolerated.” 
 
Second, defense counsel owes a duty of full and ongoing 
disclosure to the insured.  This duty of disclosure has three 
aspects.  First, potential conflicts of interest between 
insurer and insured must be fully disclosed and resolved in 
favor of the insured.  The dictates of RPC 1.7, which 
address conflicts of interest such as this, must be strictly 
followed.  Second, all information relevant to the insured’s 
defense, including a realistic and periodic assessment of the 
insured’s chances to win or lose the pending lawsuit, must 
be communicated to the insured.  Finally, all offers of 
settlement must be disclosed to the insured as those offers 
are presented.  In a reservation-of-rights defense, it is the 
insured who may pay any judgment or settlement.  
Therefore, it is the insured who must make the ultimate 
choice regarding settlement.  In order to make an informed 
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decision in this regard, the insured must be fully apprised 
of all activity involving settlement, whether the settlement 
offers or rejections come from the injured party or the 
insurance company. 
 

Id. at 388-89.  See generally, Thomas V. Harris, Wash. Insurance Law (3d 

ed.) § 17.05.   

The record here clearly discloses Attorneys told the Ardens both 

by letter and in a face-to-face meeting that their duty was to defend the 

Ardens.  Op. at 4-5.6  Attorneys were not involved in any coverage 

controversy between Hartford and the Ardens.  Id.   

Having followed Tank’s admonition that defense counsel should 

avoid any possibility of having the insurer influence defense counsel 

conduct of the insured’s defense, the Court of Appeals properly concluded 

Attorneys had no duty to persuade Hartford to settle the case, particularly 

where the Ardens had their own coverage counsel, Jon Cushman, whose 

job it was to try to persuade Hartford.  Op. at 19-20.   

 The Ardens allege Attorneys violated a duty by failing to disclose 

potential conflicts between Hartford and the Ardens, as Tank requires.  

However, the undisputed evidence is that Gibson discussed this very issue 

at his first meeting with them.  CP 169.  Moreover, in Jon Cushman, the 

Ardens had a personal attorney handling an existing coverage dispute 
                                                 

6  The court indicated that a combination of the statements in the initial letter and 
Gibson’s communications during a subsequent meeting with the Ardens satisfied 
Attorneys’ disclosure obligations under Tank.  Op. at 17-18.   
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before — and after — Attorneys were retained.  Cushman knew, CP 320, 

and the Ardens are charged with knowing, CP 601, that Hartford 

appointed Attorneys to represent them in accordance with their policy and 

paid Attorneys for their services.   

Moreover, Attorneys apprised the Ardens, directly or through 

Cushman, of the settlement negotiations with the Duffys.  Op. at 5-6, 21.  

Cushman was fully aware of counteroffers to the Duffys’ demands.  Op. at 

23-24.  Thus, the Ardens’ assertions that they were unaware of a defense 

plan, pet. at 4, and that they never had involvement in settlement 

decisions, pet. at 6, are simply false. 

The only aspect of Attorneys’ involvement in settlement in which 

the Court of Appeals questioned Attorneys’ conduct was with regard to 

consulting with the Ardens before rejecting the Duffys’ settlement 

demand.  Op. at 22.  But the court also concluded that the Ardens were not 

harmed by this conduct because the Ardens were only interested in 

settlement if Hartford paid the settlement in its entirety.  Id.   

 The Court of Appeals provided a clear, careful articulation of the 

principles this Court established in Tank.  Op. at 9-11.  It noted the added 

ethical dimension to defense counsel’s obligation to insureds like the 

Ardens when it discussed the implications of RPC 5.4(c) and RPC 
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1.8(f)(2) that apply when a third party is paying for the services of counsel 

in representing clients.  Op. at 10.  Review is not merited.  RAP 13.4(b).   

(2) The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Attorneys 
Had No RPC 1.7 Conflict of Interest 

 
 Tank requires not only that appointed defense counsel meet this 

Court’s specific protocol for the appropriate representation of an insured 

in a reservation of rights situation, the appointed counsel must also avoid 

specific conflicts of interest under RPC 1.7.  105 Wn.2d at 388.  Here, 

Attorneys had no conflict of interest under that rule.   

Just as the Ardens’ petition does not actually provide argument to 

this Court on their putative issues involving defense counsel as a “trustee,” 

fee disgorgement, or the attorney judgment rule in professional negligence 

cases, it appears that the Ardens believe there is a conflict of interest issue 

in this case, because they employ the language of RPC 1.7, pet. at 1 (issue 

1), but they then offer no argument in the petition on how the Court of 

Appeals decision in any way contradicted the teachings of this Court on 

RPC 1.7 or contradicted precedential decisions of the Court of Appeals. 

The Ardens seemingly contend for a position on defense counsel’s 

relationship with an insured that far exceeds the express parameters of 

Tank.  They imply that insurer-appointed defense counsel automatically 

have a conflict of interest with insureds if they have ever represented an 
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insurer in a coverage dispute or have been appointed by an insurer.  Pet. at 

12-17.7  Such a position undermines Tank and other Washington authority. 

 The Court of Appeals addressed the issue of conflict of interest 

with care in its opinion at 13-14, rejecting an apparent argument offered 

by the Ardens that an insurer in a reservation of rights case is 

automatically “conflicted” and must invariably appoint as the insured’s 

defense counsel an attorney who has never previously represented the 

insurer in coverage matters or has never been appointed by an insurer to 

represent other insureds.  Op. at 14-15.  As the Court of Appeals noted, the 

Ardens’ initial premise is wrong.  Tank specifically stands for the 

proposition that while defense under a reservation of rights creates only a 

“potential” for a conflict of interest, an actual conflict of interest can be 

                                                 
7  The Ardens supported this extreme position with the declaration of Professor 

John Strait who concluded that any representation by Attorneys of Hartford on coverage 
matters, regardless of how different the time or subject of such coverage matters might 
be, constituted so great a conflict that the Ardens could not have waived it.  CP 422.  
Jeffrey Tilden, an expert with considerable experience as defense counsel and personal 
counsel for policyholders, stated: 

 
In essence, Professor Strait’s opinion is that an attorney cannot both 
represent an insurer as to coverage in some matters and simultaneously 
defend that insurer’s policyholders in other matters.  This is plainly not 
the standard of care in this state.  The practice of reasonable, careful, 
and prudent attorneys across Washington is to do just this.  Hundreds 
of attorneys across the state do both coverage work and appointed 
defense work for the same insurers on a daily basis and have for the 
entire 33 years of my career.  I have never heard anyone suggest this 
was improper until the declaration filed here.   
 

CP 365.   
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avoided if this Court’s directions set forth to defense counsel are met.  105 

Wn.2d at 387.  Op. at 14-15.8   

Like the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals has long rejected the 

proposition that there is an “automatic” conflict of interest when an insurer 

defends an insured under a reservation of rights.  Johnson v. Continental 

Cas. Co., 57 Wn. App. 359, 361, 788 P.2d 598 (1990) (“In Washington, 

there is simply no presumption that a reservation of rights situation creates 

an automatic conflict of interest.”).  An insurer has no obligation to pay 

for its insured’s retention of separate, personal counsel so long as the 

insurer and its appointed defense counsel adhere to the Tank protocol.  Id. 

at 362-63.  As noted in Thomas V. Harris, Wash. Insurance Law (3d ed.) 

at 17-18, “The decision in Johnson is entirely appropriate.”   

An automatic conflict rule is obviously highly impractical, and will 

deprive insurers of the ability to appoint the most qualified, experienced 

defense counsel to represent insureds, something highly desirable from the 

insureds’ standpoint.9 

                                                 
8  The Court of Appeals specifically noted, however, that defense counsel are not 

insulated from liability for breach of their fiduciary duty to a client if they failed to 
adhere to the Tank protocol.  Op. at 15 n.6.   

 
 9  The Ardens neglect to discuss just how far they propose their interpretation of 
RPC 1.7 should go.  Will a single representation of an insurer in a coverage dispute 10 
years ago, invariably disqualify that firm from appointment to represent an insured?  Will 
5% of a firm’s work that involves defense appointment to represent insureds mandate 
disqualification?  Will appointment by State Farm to defend its insureds at some point 
disqualify a firm from representing Hartford insureds?  Such a broad sweep to RPC 
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 The record shows as a matter of law that Attorneys did not violate 

the conflict rules because a “concurrent conflict of interest” never arose.  

RPC 1.7(a)(2).10  As a matter of law, no concurrent conflict of interest 

existed, because the Ardens presented no evidence of a “significant risk” 

that representation of the Ardens would be “materially limited” by 

Attorneys’ responsibilities to Hartford or a personal interest of any of the 

Attorneys, a showing required under RPC 1.7(a)(2).  The Ardens 

presented no evidence that Hartford was a current client when Attorneys 

began representing the Ardens.  The Ardens also do not contend that 

Attorneys represented Hartford as to the Ardens’ coverage or on a similar 

coverage issue in any other case.   

 Instead, there was significant proof that Attorneys’ conduct – far 

from being “materially limited” – in fact met the standard of care in every 

way.  CP 362-69, 508-26. 

Finally, with regard to the one instance in which a specific conflict 

of interest was alleged by the Ardens – an alleged failure on Attorneys’ 

                                                                                                                         
1.7(a) certainly has implications for the construction of CJC 2.11(A)(6) as well.  An 
absolute rule, if that is what the Ardens are contending should apply in the RPC 1.7(a) 
context, must be rejected. 
 
 10  “A concurrent conflict of interest exists if ... there is significant risk that the 
representation of [a] client will be materially limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to 
another client, a former client, or a third person, or by a personal interest of the lawyer.”  
RPC 1.7(a)(2).  See generally, LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 
48, 84, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014) where this Court held that an attorney’s representation of a 
trust set up for his children and the principal of a debt collection firm was directly 
adverse under RPC 1.7(a)(1).   
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part to “quickly” settle the Duffys’ lawsuit, the Court of Appeals patiently 

explained that there was no breach of duty by Attorneys because the 

Ardens failed to document any alleged conflict.  Op. at 20-21.11   

If it is the Ardens’ position that they are entitled to an 

“independent counsel” in which they select counsel to represent them in 

defense of a tort claim like that of the Duffys, and insurers like Hartford 

must simply pay for such representation, that position is unsupported in 

Washington.  (Again, left undiscussed is the question of whether such 

counsel would be invariably barred from representing them if 

concurrently, or in the past, such counsel had represented Hartford on a 

coverage matter or had been appointed to defend a Hartford insured).  This 

Court implicitly rejected such a notion in Tank, as the Court of Appeals 

observed.  Op. at 14.  This approach to representation of insureds has been 

modified by statute in the state in which it originated.  Dynamic Concepts, 

Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange, 71 Cal. Rptr. 2d 882 (Cal. App. 1998).12   

                                                 
11  Indeed, the Ardens do not argue this issue in their petition, and mention an 

alleged desire for such a quick settlement only in passing.  The facts also belie the 
argument in any event.  Attorneys were appointed to represent the Ardens by Hartford on 
November 19.  Gibson met with them 5 weeks later.  Attorneys served discovery on the 
Duffys shortly after that.  CP 621.  The full duration of Attorneys’ representation of the 
Ardens was about 5 months.   

 
12  The idea of independent counsel originated in California in San Diego 

Federal Credit Union v. Cumis Ins. Society, Inc., 208 Cal. Rptr. 494 (Cal. App. 1984).  
The California Legislature substantially modified the principle in Cal. Civil Code § 2860.  
In Dynamic Concepts, applying that code section, the court held that an insurer’s defense 
under a reservation of rights did not create a per se conflict of interest requiring 



Answer to Petition for Review - 15 

Moreover, Washington law is unambiguous after Tank that defense 

counsel owe a duty to the insureds they represent, not to the insurer that 

pays them.  In the malpractice context, this Court has specifically held that 

insurance defense counsel have no duty to the carrier that selects them and 

pays for the representation of the insured.  In Stewart Title Guaranty 

Co. v. Sterling Savings Bank, 178 Wn.2d 561, 567-68, 311 P.3d 1 (2013), 

this Court specifically held there is no duty (directly or indirectly under 

Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994)), allowing an 

insurance carrier to sue insurance defense counsel for professional 

negligence.  In so holding, this Court found to do so would conflict with 

Tank and violate RPC 5.4(c).  The Ardens’ position is implicitly based 

upon a proposition that insurance defense counsel have independent duties 

to the carrier, a proposition rejected in Stewart Title.  The role and 

                                                                                                                         
appointment of independent counsel.  As noted in Douglas R. Richmond, Independent 
Counsel in Insurance, 48 San Diego L. Rev. 857, 859 (2011), the “majority, and clearly 
better position” is that not every reservation of rights creates an automatic entitlement to 
independent counsel in states that allow for such a role.  Moreover, that role itself is 
fraught with practical problems: 

 
For example, what qualifies a lawyer or law firm to serve as 
independent counsel?  Who selects independent counsel?  How or on 
what basis should independent counsel be compensated?  Must 
independent counsel accept the same financial and administrative 
constraints that insurers impose on their regular counsel?  What is the 
relationship between the insurer and independent counsel?  What duties 
do independent counsel owe and to whom do they owe them?  There is 
little authority to guide courts and lawyers analyzing these issues, and 
only a few states regulate independent counsel in any fashion.   
 

Id. at 860.   
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obligations of insurance defense counsel are those enunciated in Tank, 

which were met in this case.  This Court should reject the Ardens’ attempt 

to undercut established precedent with no articulated reason to do so. 

Finally, the Ardens’ attempt to smear all defense counsel as 

invariably failing to live up to their ethical and Tank-related obligations 

merits a response.  Pet. at 17-19.  The Ardens offer no real evidence or 

authority that this is a pressing problem in Washington.  Without any 

basis, the Ardens cast aspersions on the men and women appointed to 

represent insureds who generally perform excellent, highly professional, 

and ethical services on behalf of insureds they are appointed to represent.  

This Court should not simply accept such an unsupported, broad brush 

assertion by the Ardens.  RAP 13.4(b)(4).   

 Simply put, the Ardens offer no real argument as to how Attorneys 

violated RPC 1.7(a).  This Court should not be required to construct an 

argument when the party has failed to make such an argument on its own 

behalf.  Review of this putative issue is not merited under RAP 13.4(b). 



Answer to Petition for Review - 17 

(3) Contingent Issues As to Why the Court of Appeals 
Decision Is Correct 

 
 As noted supra, the Ardens have waived the other issues 

mentioned in passing in their petition13 such as the attorney judgment 

rule,14 the establishment of a trust,15 and disgorgement.16   

 Moreover, there are additional reasons why the Ardens failed to 

establish claims for professional negligence or breach of fiduciary duty 

against Attorneys.  To the extent that the Ardens contend Attorneys bore 

some duty to them with regard to Rolf Arden’s criminal prosecution, a 

point disputed below by Jeffrey Tilden, CP 523,17 the Ardens are 

                                                 
13  Attorneys reserve the right to raise these issues in any supplemental brief 

should the Court deem them appropriately preserved for review.  Lewis River Golf, supra. 
 

 14  The Ardens contend that the attorney judgment rule should never apply in 
Washington in connection with the breach of duty elements of a professional negligence 
or fiduciary duty claim.  Pet. at 2, 11.  However, they offer no argument in their petition 
on that theory, waiving it for the reasons cited supra.  The Court of Appeals’ analysis of 
the issue, however, is entirely supported on the facts and the law in any event.  Op. at 22-
27.  See generally, br. of resp’ts at 28.   
 
 15  The Ardens endorse a novel theory that appointed defense counsel is the 
trustee of the “defense asset.”  Pet. at 2.  Ultimately, the Ardens have no authority for 
their novel proposition; trust law certainly does not fit in this context.  See br. of resp’ts at 
26-27. 
 
 16  The Ardens also contend they are entitled to “disgorgement” of fees paid to 
Attorneys, even though they never paid them.  Pet. at 2.  While a client whose attorney 
has breached a fiduciary duty to the client may be entitled to disgorgement of attorney 
fees in certain egregious situations, this relief is not available in every case.  Kelly v. 
Foster, 62 Wn. App. 150, 156, 813 P.2d 598, review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1001 (1991).  
Instead, it should only be applied where the claimed attorney misconduct is so egregious 
as to constitute a complete defense to a claim for fees.  Id. at 157.  See generally, br. of 
resp’ts at 49-50.   
 

17  Tilden opined that Attorneys met the standard of care as to their treatment of 
Rolf Arden’s criminal case situation in any event.  CP 369.   
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effectively requesting that Attorneys take on the responsibilities of 

criminal defense lawyers.  As such, they are immune from professional 

negligence liability unless Arden was actually innocent.  Ang v. Martin, 

154 Wn.2d 477, 114 P.3d 637 (2005); Piris v. Kitching, ___ Wn.2d ___, 

__ P.3d __, 2016 WL 3748969 (2016).  Because Arden was admittedly 

guilty of killing the Duffy’s puppy, as noted supra, Attorneys are immune 

from liability.  They reserve the right to raise this issue.  Lewis River Golf, 

supra. 

The Ardens cannot establish either harm18 or proximate cause19 or 

in connection with their claims, and Attorneys reserve the right to raise 

these issues should the Court grant review.  Lewis River Golf, supra. 

                                                 
 18  The Court of Appeals did not address the Ardens’ alleged harm, but the 
Ardens failed to establish the requisite harm element of their claims.  See generally, br. of 
resp’ts at 43-50.  The Ardens argued below that as a result of Attorneys’ conduct, they 
were forced to incur fees in Duffy v. Arden, in State v. Arden, and in this case.  Br. of 
Appellants at 39-41.  In doing so, they disregard settled Washington law that a plaintiff 
may not recover attorney fees in an action for legal malpractice or for breach of fiduciary 
duty, absent a contract, statute, or recognized equitable ground.  Schmidt v. Coogan, 181 
Wn.2d 661, 679, 335 P.3d 424 (2014); Benke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 296, 294 
P.3d 729 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013); Shoemake v. Ferrer, 143 Wn. 
App. 819, 831, 182 P.3d 992 (2008).  The Ardens also could not recover fees under 
equitable indemnity for recovery of attorney fees.  Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass’n v. 
Northward Homes, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 352, 358, 110 P.3d 1145 (2005).   
 
 Finally, the Ardens could not recover damages for their alleged emotional 
distress.  Schmidt, 181 Wn.2d at 679. 
 
 19  The Ardens failed to establish the requisite proximate cause for either their 
professional negligence or breach of fiduciary duty theory as to Attorneys’ alleged failure 
to timely settle.  See generally, br. of resp’ts at 38-43.  Clearly, the Ardens wanted 
Hartford to pay and gave it and Attorneys latitude to negotiate a settlement; the Ardens 
always conditioned settlement on Hartford’s funding it, as they admitted.  Br. of 
Appellants at 28.  The Court of Appeals correctly concluded any issues regarding the 
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D. CONCLUSION 

The Ardens’ petition for review is procedurally defective, making 

the response to that petition and its processing a matter of needless 

guesswork for Attorneys and this Court.  The Ardens mention issues, but 

do not argue them, thereby waiving them.  On the issue they do argue, 

they fail to address the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) governing review.   

The trial court’s summary judgment decisions were correct, and 

the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed those decisions based on Tank and 

RPC 1.7 in its thoughtful opinion.  Because the Ardens fail to demonstrate 

how the Court of Appeals opinion falls within any of the criteria in RAP 

13.4(b), this Court should deny review. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                         
settlement process did not harm the Ardens, given that desire to have Hartford pay any 
settlement.  Op. at 21-24.   
 

Similarly, nothing Attorneys did in settlement had anything to do with criminal 
charges against Roff Arden.  Simply put, Roff Arden admitted to shooting his neighbor’s 
pet.  He admitted the evidence was sufficient to convict him.  CP 591.  His conduct was 
the cause of being charged with animal cruelty and being sued by the Duffys.  When the 
Prosecutor decided to charge Arden, he undisputedly did not know the Duffys were suing 
the Ardens.  CP 441.  His decision, therefore, was not (and could not have been) 
influenced by the status of the civil action.  Moreover, the Duffys undisputedly planned 
to pursue the criminal charges even if their civil case settled.  The Ardens and their 
counsel asked Hartford to fund the settlement even knowing the Duffys wanted to try and 
influence the prosecutor to file charges.  CP 673-74.  The Court of Appeals correctly 
discerned that the Ardens again failed to establish causation.  Op. at 24-27.   
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 

DIVISION II 
 

ROFF ARDEN and BOBBI ARDEN, adult 

husband and wife, 

No. 46991-0-II 

  

    Appellants,  

  

 v.  

  

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S., a Washington 

State professional services corporation; JOHN 

HAYES and “JANE DOE” HAYES, adult 

Washington State residents including any 

marital community; WILLIAM “CHRIS” 

GIBSON and “JANE DOE” GIBSON, adult 

Washington State residents including any 

marital community; and DOE DEFENDANTS 

I through V, 

PUBLISHED OPINION 

  

    Respondents.  

 

MAXA, J. — Roff and Bobbi Arden appeal the trial court’s summary judgment order 

dismissing their claims against Forsberg & Umlauf, PS, and attorneys John Hayes and William 

“Chris” Gibson (collectively Forsberg) for breach of fiduciary duties and legal malpractice.  

Property and Casualty Insurance Company of Hartford (Hartford), the Ardens’ homeowners’ 

insurance company, retained Forsberg to defend a lawsuit filed against the Ardens.  Hartford 

provided the defense under a reservation of its rights to deny coverage for any judgment entered 

against the Ardens.  

First, the Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them by 

defending them in a reservation of rights context while also representing Hartford in other cases.  
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We hold as a matter of law that Forsberg’s representation of the Ardens while it also represented 

Hartford did not create a conflict of interest and that Forsberg had no obligation to notify the 

Ardens that they represented Hartford in other cases.  We also hold that there is no evidence that 

Forsberg breached its duty of disclosure regarding the potential conflicts of interest between 

Hartford and the Ardens.  

Second, the Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them 

during settlement negotiations.  We hold that (1) as a matter of law, Forsberg had no duty to the 

Ardens to persuade Hartford to accept the claimants’ initial settlement offer; (2) there is no 

evidence that Forsberg breached a fiduciary duty regarding the Ardens’ interest in a swift 

resolution of the lawsuit; (3) a question of fact exists as to whether Forsberg breached its duty to 

consult with the Ardens before rejecting settlement demands, but there is no evidence that any 

breach injured the Ardens; and (4) even if Forsberg had a duty to consult with the Ardens before 

making settlement offers, there is no evidence that Forsberg breached any such duty regarding its 

first settlement offer and that the breach of any duty for the second settlement offer injured the 

Ardens. 

Third, the Ardens argue that Forsberg was negligent in requesting an extension of the 

start of settlement negotiations when they had an interest in a prompt settlement.  We hold that 

there is no evidence that Forsberg was negligent regarding its judgment decision to extend the 

start of settlement negotiations.   

Accordingly, we affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Forsberg 

on both breach of the fiduciary duty of loyalty and legal negligence and the denial of the Ardens’ 

summary judgment motions.   
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FACTS 

The Ardens and Wade and Anne Duffy were neighbors in Shelton.  In December 2011, 

Roff Arden shot and killed the Duffys’ puppy.  He claimed that the shooting occurred after the 

puppy and another dog chased him and Bobbi down their driveway.  The Mason County 

Sheriff’s Office investigated, and referred the investigation to the prosecutor’s office to pursue 

animal cruelty charges. 

Lawsuit and Tender of Defense to Hartford  

The Duffys filed suit against the Ardens in May 2012 after settlement negotiations broke 

down.  The lawsuit apparently alleged that the Ardens were liable for (1) willful conversion of 

the dog, (2) malicious injury, (3) intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress, and (4) 

gross negligence and willful or reckless property damage.1  The Ardens requested insurance 

coverage for the lawsuit from Hartford under the liability portion of their homeowners’ insurance 

policy.  Hartford initially refused to defend the lawsuit based on an intentional act exclusion in 

its policy. 

In October 2012, the Ardens retained new personal counsel, Jon Cushman.  Cushman 

demanded that Hartford defend and indemnify the Ardens against the Duffy lawsuit because the 

complaint contained some negligence allegations.  Hartford agreed to defend the Ardens.  

Hartford informed Cushman that it intended to defend under a reservation of its rights to deny 

coverage for any judgment, and Cushman stated that he was “ok” with Hartford’s panel counsel2 

                                                 
1 Neither party included a copy of the Duffys’ complaint in the appellate record. 

 
2 “Panel counsel” generally refers to an attorney who is regularly retained by a particular insurer. 
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defending the case.  Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 320.  Cushman informed the Ardens that Hartford 

had agreed to defend but under a reservation of rights, and that he would continue to provide 

coverage advice to Arden and to monitor the defense.  However, Hartford did not send the 

Ardens a letter reserving its rights to deny coverage until January 30, 2013. 

Forsberg Representation   

Hartford retained Forsberg to represent the Ardens, and Forsberg assigned attorneys 

Hayes and Gibson to the case.  Hartford was one of Forsberg’s clients, and Hayes was one of the 

firm’s partners who regularly worked on Hartford cases.  Approximately 30 to 35 percent of 

Hayes’s practice involved defending Hartford’s insureds.  He also had represented Hartford in 

coverage matters.  A substantial part of Gibson’s practice involved defending Hartford’s 

insureds. 

On November 27, 2012, Forsberg sent a letter to the Ardens informing them that Hartford 

had retained Forsberg to defend the Duffy lawsuit.  The letter stated that Forsberg’s 

representation was limited to defending the Ardens in the lawsuit and that Forsberg would not 

provide any insurance coverage advice to either Hartford or the Ardens.  The letter also stated, 

“Unless instructed otherwise, we will assume that any settlement authority or instructions we 

receive from the Hartford to settle are given with your consent and will proceed accordingly.”  

CP at 427.  The letter did not inform the Ardens that Forsberg regularly defended Hartford’s 

insureds and had also represented Hartford in coverage matters. 

Gibson met with the Ardens in December.  At the meeting, Gibson explained that he 

expected Hartford to issue a reservation of rights letter and that there could be a coverage 

dispute.  He further explained that Forsberg’s only role was as the Ardens’ defense attorneys.  He 
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told the Ardens that his goal was for Hartford to pay full indemnity for the lawsuit despite any 

reservation of rights. 

Settlement Negotiations   

Forsberg served discovery requests on the Duffys in early January 2013.  On January 18, 

the Duffys made a settlement demand of $55,000 to both Cushman and Forsberg.  The deadline 

to respond to the demand was January 28.  Cushman immediately sent an email to Forsberg 

stating that the Ardens would accept the offer provided that Hartford pay the settlement.  On 

January 22, Cushman also sent Forsberg and Hartford an email stating that the Ardens wanted to 

accept the offer provided that Hartford would pay and demanding that Hartford fund the 

settlement. 

Hartford was not willing to settle the case for $55,000 at that time because it did not have 

discovery responses that would have provided documentation regarding the claimed damages 

and information about case value. Forsberg emailed Cushman that it had requested an extension 

of time to respond to the settlement demand until after the Duffys had responded to discovery 

requests.  Hartford sent a similar email to Cushman.  Forsberg later emailed Cushman and 

informed him that the Duffys had agreed to extend the time for responding to their settlement 

demand until two weeks after they answered discovery.  The new projected settlement deadline 

was March 4.  Cushman did not object to the extension at that time.   

After receiving the Duffys’ discovery responses, Forsberg prepared a detailed litigation 

report and case evaluation and provided a draft to Cushman for review before sending it to 

Hartford.  Forsberg recommended that Hartford attempt to settle the case for up to $35,000.  

Cushman sent Forsberg an email with several substantive changes, and concluded, “I bet you can 
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settle the case for the $35,000 you estimate in value.”  CP at 693.  Cushman did not tell Forsberg 

that he thought the value was too low or that he should recommend a higher settlement value to 

Hartford. 

On March 4, Hartford informed Cushman that it planned to allow the deadline for the 

$55,000 demand to expire and then continue negotiations.  On March 5, Forsberg informed 

Cushman by email that Hartford had given Forsberg settlement authority up to $35,000, and that 

they were going to start with an $18,000 offer.  Cushman responded, “I hope you succeed.  I will 

stay out of the loop.  Keep me posted by copy on all offers and responses.”  CP at 714.  Cushman 

also told the Ardens that Hartford was going to start with an $18,000 offer.  Neither Cushman 

nor the Ardens objected to this offer.  Roff Arden expected that the parties would negotiate back 

and forth and probably get the case settled for $35,000. 

Forsberg conveyed an $18,000 settlement offer to the Duffys later on March 5.  The 

Duffys initially rejected the counteroffer without extending a new offer.  However, on March 12 

Cushman contacted the Duffys’ attorney directly and asked him to move to a mid-point.  The 

attorney responded with an email to Forsberg and Cushman offering to settle for $40,000 if 

accepted by the end of the day on March 14.  On March 14, Hartford informed Cushman that it 

would be allowing the $40,000 demand to expire and would make a counteroffer of $25,000.  An 

hour after Hartford’s email to Cushman, Forsberg communicated the $25,000 offer to the 

Duffys’ attorney.  Cushman did not object to this offer at the time, but he later argued that 

Hartford was acting in bad faith by not accepting the $40,000 demand. 
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Later on March 14, the Duffys’ attorney sent an email to Forsberg and Cushman rejecting 

the $25,000 offer and stating that no new offers would be made.  At that point, negotiations 

stopped. 

Criminal Charges   

On March 13, the Mason County Prosecuting Attorney charged Arden with one count of 

first degree animal cruelty with a firearm enhancement.  The prosecutor was unaware of the 

Duffys’ lawsuit until after he filed the information. 

Lawsuit Against Hartford and Forsberg 

On March 15, the Ardens filed a lawsuit against Hartford alleging that Hartford had acted 

in bad faith in handling their claim.  The Ardens then amended their complaint to add Forsberg 

and Hayes as defendants and alleged that Forsberg had committed legal malpractice.  The 

Ardens later filed a second amended complaint adding Gibson as a defendant and asserting a 

claim that Forsberg and its attorneys had breached their fiduciary duties. 

The Ardens, Hartford, Forsberg, and the Duffys participated in mediation in August 

2013.  Hartford funded a settlement of the Duffys’ lawsuit against the Ardens, the Duffys agreed 

to recommend to the prosecutor that criminal charges not be pursued, and the Ardens dismissed 

their claim against Hartford.  The only matter not settled was the Ardens’ claims against 

Forsberg, Hayes, and Gibson. 

Summary Judgment 

Both the Ardens and Forsberg filed multiple summary judgment motions regarding the 

Ardens’ breach of fiduciary duty and legal negligence claims.  The trial court granted summary 
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judgment in favor of Forsberg on all the Ardens’ claims.  The trial court denied the Ardens’ 

summary judgment motions.  The Ardens appeal the trial court’s summary judgment orders. 

ANALYSIS 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

We review a trial court’s order granting summary judgment de novo.  Lyons v. U.S. Bank 

Nat’l Ass’n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 783, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014).  We review the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all reasonable inferences in that party’s favor.  

Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922, 296 P.3d 860 (2013). 

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the 

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  CR 56(c).  “A genuine issue of material 

fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of the 

litigation.”  Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 

(2011).  If reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion on an issue of fact, that issue may be 

determined on summary judgment.  Failla v. FixtureOne Corp., 181 Wn.2d 642, 649, 336 P.3d 

1112 (2014), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 1904, (2015). 

The moving party bears the initial burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of 

material fact.  Lee v. Metro Parks Tacoma, 183 Wn. App. 961, 964, 335 P.3d 1014 (2014).  A 

moving defendant can meet this burden by showing that there is an absence of evidence to 

support the plaintiff's case.  Id.  The burden then shifts to the plaintiff to come forward with 

sufficient evidence to establish the existence of each element of the plaintiff's case.  Id.  If the 

plaintiff does not submit such evidence, summary judgment is appropriate.  Id. 
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B. ATTORNEY’S FIDUCIARY DUTIES – RESERVATION OF RIGHTS DEFENSE 

1.     General Principles 

An attorney owes fiduciary duties to his or her client.  VersusLaw, Inc. v. Stoel Rives, 

LLP, 127 Wn. App. 309, 333, 111 P.3d 866 (2005).  Breach of a fiduciary duty imposes liability 

in tort.  Micro Enhancement Int’l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 110 Wn. App. 412, 433, 40 

P.3d 1206 (2002).  The plaintiff must prove (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty, (2) a breach of 

that fiduciary duty, (3) resulting injury, and (4) that the breach of duty proximately caused the 

injury.  Id. at 433-34. 

The Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) generally outline an attorney’s fiduciary duties.  

See Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992); Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 

Wn. App. 258, 265-66, 44 P.3d 878 (2002).  Whether a fiduciary duty exists under the RPCs and 

whether an attorney has breached a fiduciary duty are questions of law.  See Eriks, 118 Wn.2d at 

457-58. 

2.     Duty of Loyalty Under the RPCs 

The Ardens allege that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them.  The 

RPCs contain two rules addressing the duty of loyalty that potentially apply when an insurer 

retains an attorney to defend its insured.  First, RPC 1.7 provides: 

   (a)  Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if 

the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest.  A concurrent conflict 

of interest exists if:  

   (1)  the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or 

   (2)  there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be 

materially limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to another client, a former client 

or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer. 
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RPC 1.7(b) states that if a concurrent conflict of interest exists, a lawyer may represent a client if 

“the lawyer reasonably believes that the lawyer will be able to provide competent and diligent 

representation to each affected client” and “each affected client gives informed consent, 

confirmed in writing.”  RPC 1.7(b)(1), (4). 

Second, RPC 5.4(c) states: 

A lawyer shall not permit a person who recommends, employs, or pays the lawyer 

to render legal services for another to direct or regulate the lawyer’s professional 

judgment in rendering such legal services. 

See also RPC 1.8(f)(2) (“A lawyer shall not accept compensation for representing a client from 

one other than the client unless: . . . (2) there is no interference with the lawyer’s independence 

of professional judgment or with the client-lawyer relationship”). 

3.     Defense Attorney Duties under Tank 

In Tank v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., the Supreme Court adopted specific criteria 

regarding the fiduciary duty of loyalty for insurer-retained attorneys defending insureds when the 

insurer is providing a defense under a reservation of rights to deny coverage.  105 Wn.2d 381, 

388, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986).  First, the court emphasized that a defense attorney owes a duty of 

loyalty to the insured/client, not to the insurer, consistent with RPC 5.4(c).  Id.   

In a reservation of rights defense, RPC 5.4(c) demands that counsel understand that 

he or she represents only the insured, not the company. . . . ‘[T]he standards of the 

legal profession require undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his client.  No 

exceptions can be tolerated.   

Id. (quoting Van Dyke v. White, 55 Wn.2d 601, 613, 349 P.2d 430 (1960).   

Second, a defense attorney owes a “duty of full and ongoing disclosure to the insured.”  

Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 388.  This duty includes three aspects:  (1) “potential conflicts of interest 

between insurer and insured must be fully disclosed and resolved in favor of the insured,” and the 
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dictates of RPC 1.7 must be strictly followed; (2) “all information relevant to the insured’s defense, 

including a realistic and periodic assessment of the insured’s chances to win or lose the pending 

lawsuit, must be communicated to the insured”; and (3) “all offers of settlement must be disclosed 

to the insured as those offers are presented” and “the insured must be fully apprised of all activity 

involving settlement, whether the settlement offers or rejections come from the injured party or 

the insurance company.”  Id. at 388-89.3 

C. DEFENSE ATTORNEY’S RELATIONSHIP WITH INSURER 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them by 

representing them in the Duffy lawsuit despite its long-standing relationship with Hartford that 

included representing Hartford in coverage cases.  The Ardens claim that this relationship created 

a conflict of interest for Forsberg as a matter of law because Hartford was defending under a 

reservation of rights to deny coverage.  We disagree. 

1.     Expert Disagreement 

Whether Forsberg’s representation of Hartford in coverage cases precludes Forsberg from 

defending Hartford’s insured in a reservation of rights case is a question of first impression in 

Washington.  The parties submitted expert declarations that disagreed on this issue.  The Ardens’ 

expert was John Straight, a Seattle University law professor, who stated that Forsberg’s 

representation of Hartford in coverage cases and its long-time attorney-client relationship with 

Hartford created a nonwaivable conflict of interest.  Forsberg’s expert was Jeffery Tilden, an 

                                                 
3 The Ardens also argue that the right to a defense is a valuable asset, and that defense counsel 

becomes a “trustee” over the insurance defense asset and owes the insured the duties of a trustee.  

However, they cite no authority to support this novel argument.  We decline to hold that 

Forsberg somehow became a trustee by undertaking a reservation of rights defense. 
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experienced insurance coverage attorney, who stated that it is a reasonable, common practice for 

attorneys to represent an insurer in coverage matters and also represent that insurer’s insureds in 

other matters. 

Because the breach of a fiduciary duty is a question of law, the trial court – and an appellate 

court on review – are free to disregard expert opinions regarding whether an attorney has breached 

a fiduciary duty.  Eriks, 118 Wn.2d at 458.  Therefore, we are not bound by either opinion.   Id.  

Instead, we acknowledge that there is a difference of opinion among experts on this issue.  

Thomas Harris, a Washington insurance law commentator, stated in the third edition of 

his treatise that an insurer violates RPC 1.7 when it retains an attorney who represents the insurer 

as a current client to also represent its insured.  THOMAS V. HARRIS, WASHINGTON INSURANCE 

LAW §11.02, at 11-3 to 11-4 (3d ed. 2010).  However, in his 2015 cumulative supplement Harris 

deleted this statement, instead noting the difference of opinions on this issue.  HARRIS, §11.02, at 

27-28 (Supp. 2015).4  In the supplement, Harris does not support either position. 

To resolve the legal issue of whether Forsberg’s representation of Hartford precluded 

Forsberg from representing the Ardens in a reservation of right context, we analyze RPC 1.7 and 

the Tank guidelines.  We conclude that an attorney who represents an insurer in coverage cases is 

not automatically prohibited from representing that insurer’s insured when the insurer reserves 

its right to deny coverage. 

                                                 
4 The Ardens cite to WILLIAM T. BARKER AND CHARLES SILVER, PROFESSIONAL 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DEFENSE COUNSEL (2014) and materials Barker prepared for an American 

Bar Association seminar.  Because these materials do not specifically address Washington law, 

we do not find them persuasive. 
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2.     Conflict of Interest Under RPC 1.7 

The Ardens argue that an attorney who represents an insurer has a conflict of interest 

under RPC 1.7 when representing that insurer’s insured in a reservation of rights case.  RPC 

1.7(a) states that a concurrent conflict of interest exists only if (1) the representation of one client 

will be directly adverse to another client, or (2) there is a significant risk that the representation 

of one client will be materially limited by the attorney’s responsibility to another client.  Neither 

situation exists here. 

First, Hartford’s interests were not directly adverse to the Ardens’ interests with regard to 

Forsberg’s defense of the Duffy lawsuit.  Hartford and the Ardens did have adverse interests with 

regard to coverage issues, but Forsberg made it clear that it did not represent either Hartford or 

the Ardens on those issues.  Hartford’s interests and the Ardens’ interests were aligned on the 

defense aspect of the claim.  Both were interested in winning the case or settling it. 

Second, as long as the defense attorney follows the criteria outlined in Tank, there is not a 

significant risk that the attorney’s representation of the insured will be materially limited by the 

attorney’s representation of the insurer in other cases.  A defense attorney handling a reservation 

of rights case knows that, under Tank, he or she represents only the insured, not the insurer, and 

owes a duty of loyalty to the insured that has no exceptions.  Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 388.  Because 

the Tank criteria form the foundation of any reservation of rights defense, a conflict of interest 

does not automatically arise under RPC 1.7(a)(2) in that context.5 

                                                 
5 Our holding applies only to the argument that a conflict of interest automatically exists when an 

attorney defending under a reservation of rights also represents an insurer.  A defense attorney 

still is subject to liability for breach of fiduciary duty under RPC 1.7(a)(2) if the facts actually 

show that the attorney’s representation of the insured will be materially limited by the attorney’s 

responsibilities to or relationship with the insurer. 
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3.   Tank Rule 

The Ardens advocate the adoption of a rule requiring an insurer defending under 

reservation of rights to retain an “independent” defense attorney who has no connection at all to 

that insurer.  The California Court of Appeals adopted a similar rule shortly before our Supreme 

Court decided Tank.  See San Diego Navy Fed. Credit Union v. Cumis Ins. Society, Inc., 162 Cal. 

App. 3d 358, 208 Cal. Rptr. 494 (1984).  In Cumis, the California court reasoned that an attorney 

retained to undertake a reservation of rights defense would represent both the insurer and the 

insured and therefore would have an irreconcilable conflict of interest.  Id. at 499-506.  As a 

result, the court held that in the absence of the insured’s express consent to representation by an 

attorney connected to the insurer, an insurer defending under a reservation of rights must pay the 

reasonable cost of hiring independent counsel to defend the insured.  Id. at 506. 

In Tank, the Supreme Court implicitly rejected the Cumis rule.  Instead of requiring 

insurers to retain independent counsel for a reservation of rights defense, the court emphasized 

that (1) insurers owed an enhanced obligation of fairness to insureds in the reservation of rights 

context, and (2) defense attorneys were required to follow specific criteria that centered on the 

recognition that only the insured was the attorney’s client.  Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 383, 387-88.  In 

essence, the court ruled that, as long as defense attorneys satisfy the specific Tank criteria, an 

insurer-retained attorney does not violate his or her duty of loyalty to an insured.   

This court addressed whether an attorney defending a reservation of rights case was 

required to be independent of the insurer in Johnson v. Continental Casualty Co., 57 Wn. App. 

359, 788 P.2d 598 (1990).  In Johnson, the insured argued that “when an insurer defends under a 

reservation of rights, a conflict of interest automatically arises requiring that the insurer pay for 
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independent counsel chosen by the insured.”  Id. at 361.  The court noted that the insured was 

relying on the Cumis case.  Id. at 361 n.2. 

This court expressly rejected the insured’s argument that a conflict of interest between 

the insurer and the insured automatically arises when the insurer is defending under a reservation 

of rights.  Citing Tank’s imposition of enhanced obligations of fairness on the insurer, the court 

stated that “no actual conflict of interest necessarily exists in a reservation of rights defense.”  Id 

at 361.  The court summarily rejected the insured’s assertion that the insurer’s refusal to provide 

coverage for certain claims “creates a conflict of interest for the attorney selected by the [insurer] 

to defend against the above referenced claims.”  Id. at 362.  The court concluded: 

In Washington, there is simply no presumption, as Johnson urges, that a reservation 

of rights situation creates an automatic conflict of interest.  Therefore, the insurer 

has no obligation before the fact to pay for its insured’s independently hired 

counsel. 

Id. at 363. 

Consistent with Tank and Johnson, Hartford’s retention of Forsberg to defend the Ardens 

under a reservation of rights did not create a conflict of interest even though Forsberg 

represented Hartford in other cases.  Accordingly, we hold as a matter of law that Forsberg did 

not breach its fiduciary duty of loyalty by undertaking the reservation of rights defense of the 

Ardens.6 

                                                 
6 Our holding does not insulate defense attorneys from liability for breach of duty of loyalty.  

The Supreme Court in Tank suggested that if an attorney defending a reservation of rights case 

failed to comply with the specific criteria outlined in that case, that attorney would be subject to 

liability.  105 Wn.2d at 387-88.  This court made the same observation in Johnson.  57 Wn. App. 

at 363.  We hold only that a defense attorney’s relationship with the insurer does not 

automatically prohibit that attorney from undertaking a reservation of rights defense. 
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D. DEFENSE ATTORNEY’S DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty by failing to give 

them notice of its long-standing relationship with Hartford and of potential conflicts of interest 

arising from Hartford’s reservation of rights.  We disagree. 

1.     Disclosure of Attorney’s Relationship with Insurer 

The Ardens claim that Forsberg had a duty to inform them of its relationship with 

Hartford.  Under RAP 1.7(b)(4), if a concurrent conflict of interest exists the attorney must 

obtain informed consent for continued representation, which necessarily would require 

disclosure of the conflict of interest.  However, as discussed above, an attorney’s undertaking of 

a reservation of rights defense even when the attorney represents the insurer in other cases does 

not automatically create a conflict of interest under RPC 1.7(a).  Therefore, Forsberg had no 

obligation under RPC 1.7 to disclose to the Ardens its relationship with Hartford.7 

Further, nothing in Tank requires a defense attorney to disclose his or her relationship 

with the insurer to the insured.  As discussed below, Tank requires a defense attorney to follow 

the dictates of RPC 1.7, disclosing any conflict of interest between the insured and the insurer 

defending under a reservation of rights.  105 Wn.2d at 388.  But neither RPC 1.7 nor Tank 

impose a requirement that a defense attorney disclose its relationship with that insurer.   

                                                 
7 The Ardens cite In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Marshall, in which the Supreme Court 

suggested that consultation and consent is required under RPC 1.7(b) any time a potential 

conflict of interest exists.  160 Wn.2d 317, 336, 157 P.3d 859 (2007).  However, in Marshall the 

attorney represented multiple plaintiffs in the same discrimination lawsuit.  Id. at 324.  Under 

Tank the law is clear that Forsberg’s only client in the Duffy lawsuit was the Ardens.  105 Wn.2d 

at 388. 
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The better practice for attorneys handling a reservation of rights defense may be to 

inform their clients if they have a long-standing relationship with the insurer and represent the 

insurer in other cases.  But we hold that, as a matter of law, Forsberg had no fiduciary duty to 

provide such notice to the Ardens. 

2.     Disclosure of Reservation of Rights Process 

One requirement for attorneys handling a reservation of rights defense is that “potential 

conflicts of interest between insurer and insured must be fully disclosed and resolved in favor of 

the insured.”  Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 388.  Further, the attorney generally must explain the 

reservation of rights process; i.e., that the insurer could refuse to indemnify the insured even 

though it was providing a defense and that the attorney represents only the insured and not the 

insurer. 

Forsberg’s initial representation letter did not completely fulfill Forsberg’s duty of 

disclosure under Tank.  The letter explained that Forsberg was not representing either Hartford or 

the Ardens with regard to coverage but it did not explain the ramifications of the reservation of 

rights defense.8  However, Gibson testified that he met with the Ardens in December and 

discussed the relationship between Hartford, Forsberg and the Ardens. 

In the meeting that I had with them early in the case I explained [the 

insurer/attorney/insured relationship] as best I could knowing that they’re not 

sophisticated, but I had to allay I think some presumed concerns that almost all of 

my clients have in insurance defense situations.  They want to know who I’m 

working for and they want to know who’s [sic] interest I’m protecting, and I explain 

the relationship and how in a [Tank] case my duties are solely to you. . . .  I 

specifically said that, that my practice is to try to get the insurance company to pay 

                                                 
8 At the time Forsberg sent the November 27, 2012 letter, Hartford had not yet issued a 

reservation of rights letter to the Ardens.  Forsberg’s failure to address reservation of rights 

issues in the retention letter may be more excusable than if a reservation of rights letter already 

had been issued. 
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everything and have you not pay a penny out of your pocket, even in a reservation 

of rights case. 

CP at 173. 

The record shows that Gibson discussed with the Ardens the parameters and scope of 

Forsberg’s defense of them under a reservation of rights.  Nothing in the record indicates that 

Gibson failed to explain the reservation of rights process to them.  Further, the Ardens had 

personal counsel who was engaged in the reservation of rights process and who presumably 

provided the Ardens with information and legal advice about that process.  Therefore, we hold 

that there is no evidence that Forsberg breached its duty of disclosure under Tank regarding the 

potential conflicts of interest between Hartford and the Ardens. 

E. DEFENSE ATTORNEY’S DUTIES IN SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them by placing 

Hartford’s interests above theirs and by failing to consult with them before rejecting the Duffys’ 

settlement demands and making counteroffers.  We hold that summary judgment was proper on 

these claims. 

1.     Insured’s Involvement in Settlement 

Most automobile and homeowners’ insurance policies provide the insurer with control 

over settlement.  But in the reservation of rights context, there are two exceptions to the insurer’s 

right to control settlement.  First, the Supreme Court in Tank recognized that the insured has the 

right to decide whether to settle a lawsuit defended under a reservation of rights.  105 Wn.2d at 

389.  Although unstated, the court clearly was referring to the situation where the insured agrees 

to pay the settlement amount.  See id. (stating that “[i]n a reservation of rights defense, it is the 

insured who may pay any judgment or settlement”).  Therefore, if the insurer defends under a 
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reservation of rights, the insured under certain circumstances has the ability to settle the case at 

his or her own expense without defeating coverage even when the insurer does not consent.  See 

Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T&G Constr., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 255, 268-69, 199 P.3d 376 (2008). 

Second, under certain circumstances the insured can enter into an agreement with the 

plaintiff to execute a stipulated judgment.  This type of agreement usually involves an 

assignment of the insured’s bad faith claims against the insurer in exchange for the claimant’s 

covenant not to execute on the judgment against the insured.  See, e.g., Bird v. Best Plumbing 

Grp., LLC, 175 Wn.2d 756, 764-65, 287 P.3d 551 (2012). 

2.     Persuading Hartford to Accept Settlement 

The Ardens suggest that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them by not 

attempting to persuade Hartford to fund the $55,000 settlement demand as the Ardens requested.  

We disagree. 

First, a defense attorney clearly has an obligation to communicate an insured’s request to 

settle to the insurer.  Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 388-89.  But the Ardens provide no authority to support 

imposing a duty on the defense attorney to attempt to persuade the insurer to settle the case.  

Such a duty would be inconsistent with the defense attorney’s role in a reservation of rights 

defense.  When coverage is disputed, an insurer’s decision to settle necessarily involves an 

evaluation of the strength of its coverage defenses.  Imposing a duty on defense counsel to 

attempt to persuade an insurer to settle would require that attorney either to argue the insured’s 

position on coverage or advise the insurer on coverage issues, both of which would give rise to 

actual conflicts of interest. 
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Second, when as here the insured has personal counsel who is actively involved in the 

case, there is no reason for defense counsel to become involved in persuading the insurer to 

settle.  Personal counsel is in the best position to advocate for settlement with the insurer.  

Cushman did so here, telling Hartford, “Let me be perfectly clear.  Arden’s [sic] want to accept 

this offer provided it is paid by carrier.  Arden’s [sic] demand the Hartford fund this settlement 

and relieve them [of] all exposure to liability.”  CP at 258.  Later, Cushman vigorously argued 

that Hartford was acting in bad faith by not settling the case for $40,000. 

We decline to impose a fiduciary duty on Forsberg to attempt to persuade Hartford to 

settle for an amount the Ardens demanded.  The defense attorney’s duty is to give a fair 

evaluation of the liability and damages aspects of the case without regard to any coverage issues.  

See Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 388-89.  Forsberg met that duty here. 

3.     Conflict of Interest Regarding Quick Settlement 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them because it 

failed to recognize the conflict between their interest in swiftly resolving the case and Hartford’s 

deliberate negotiation strategy.  We disagree because there is no evidence that there was such a 

conflict. 

The Ardens assert that they were interested in a quick settlement of the Duffy lawsuit 

because of the pending decision on criminal charges and Roff Arden’s problems with depression 

and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).  The Ardens claim that Hartford’s settlement strategy 

was inconsistent with this interest.  But there is no evidence that Hartford disagreed with seeking 

a quick settlement or attempted to slow down settlement discussions.  Hartford did let the 

$55,000 demand expire, but then made a counteroffer the next day, March 5.  When the Duffys 
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lowered their demand to $40,000 on March 12, Hartford responded with another offer two days 

later.  Negotiations then broke down.  The speed of these negotiations – multiple offers and 

counteroffers in less than 10 days – showed that Hartford, like the Ardens, was interested in a 

prompt resolution. 

The start of negotiations was delayed approximately two months because Forsberg and 

Hartford were waiting for the Duffys’ discovery responses, which were needed to evaluate the 

claim.  However, as discussed below, Forsberg’s request for an extension of time to respond to 

the $55,000 settlement demand was a reasonable judgment decision designed to further the 

Ardens’ interest in having Hartford fund any settlement. 

We hold that there is no evidence that Forsberg breached any fiduciary duty relating to 

the Ardens’ interest in a quick settlement of the Duffy lawsuit. 

4.     Conferring with the Ardens Regarding Settlement Offers 

As stated above, Tank requires defense counsel to keep the insured fully apprised of all 

activity involving settlement, including all settlement offers or rejections of offers from either the 

injured party or the insurer.  105 Wn.2d at 388-89.  Here, there is no question that Forsberg 

informed the Ardens – through Cushman – of all settlement developments.  However, the Ardens 

argue that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty because it did not consult with them 

before rejecting Duffys’ settlement demands or making counteroffers.  We hold that summary 

judgment was proper on these issues. 

        a.     Rejecting Demands 

As noted above, when the insurer defends under a reservation of rights the insured has the 

ability, under certain circumstances, to settle the case without the insurer’s involvement or 
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consent.  This means that when the claimant makes a settlement demand, defense counsel must 

consult with the insured before that demand is rejected or allowed to expire.  See Tank, 105 

Wn.2d at 388-89.  Otherwise, it may be difficult for the insured to exercise its settlement rights. 

Here, Forsberg did not expressly consult with the Ardens or Cushman before rejecting the 

Duffys’ two settlement demands.  Forsberg notified Cushman that it would reject the demands, 

but Forsberg never inquired whether the Ardens were interested in settling the case without 

Hartford’s involvement.  On the other hand, Forsberg’s initial representation letter had stated, 

“Unless instructed otherwise, we will assume that any settlement authority or instructions we 

receive from The Hartford to settle the claims against you in this lawsuit are given with your 

consent and will proceed accordingly.”  CP at 427.  And the Ardens had clearly stated that they 

were interested in settlement only if Hartford funded any settlement agreement.  This competing 

evidence arguably created a question of fact as to whether Forsberg breached its duty to consult 

with the Ardens. 

However, an attorney can be liable for a breach of fiduciary duty only if the breach 

caused some injury.  See Micro Enhancement, 110 Wn. App. at 433-34.  Here, there is no 

question of fact regarding whether this potential breach of duty injured the Ardens.  There is no 

evidence in the record suggesting that if Forsberg had consulted with the Ardens, they would 

have been willing to fund the settlement themselves or otherwise negotiate a separate settlement 

with the Duffys.  The only evidence is that the Ardens and Cushman were adamant that Hartford 

must fund any settlement.  Therefore, as a matter of law Forsberg cannot be liable for its failure 

to confer with the Ardens before rejecting the settlement demands.  
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        b.     Making Counteroffers 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg was required to consult with them before making 

counteroffers.  They claim that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duty of loyalty to them by 

carrying out Hartford’s instructions regarding settlement offers without considering their 

interests.  We assume without deciding that Forsberg had a duty to consult with the Ardens 

regarding settlement strategy.  However, we hold that the trial court correctly granted summary 

judgment in favor of Forsberg because the evidence shows that Forsberg did not breach any such 

duty regarding the $18,000 offer and that any breach regarding the $25,000 offer did not injure 

the Ardens.   

The evidence is undisputed that Forsberg did consult with Cushman before making the 

$18,000 counteroffer.  After Hartford gave Forsberg authority to settle for $35,000, Forsberg 

informed Cushman before communicating any offer to the Duffys that it was starting with an 

$18,000 offer.  This consultation gave Cushman the opportunity to provide input on this 

decision.  Cushman did not object to or disagree with Forsberg’s approach.  In fact, he told 

Forsberg that he hoped Forsberg would succeed and that he would stay out of the loop on 

settlement negotiations.  Cushman also told the Ardens about the offer, and rather than objecting 

Roff Arden noted that this offer was just the starting point and expected the parties to negotiate 

back and forth.  Therefore, there is no genuine issue of fact that Forsberg consulted with the 

Ardens before making the $18,000 offer. 

For the $25,000 counteroffer, Forsberg gave Cushman some advance notice before 

making the offer an hour later.  Cushman did not respond, so there was no actual discussion 

about the new counteroffer.  But again, Cushman did not disagree with or object to this offer 
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even after the offer was made.  Cushman’s objection was not to the amount of the $25,000 

counteroffer, but with Hartford’s refusal to accept the $40,000 demand. 

Even if Forsberg breached some duty to consult with the Ardens regarding settlement 

strategy, there is no evidence that that this breach injured the Ardens.  The evidence shows that 

Hartford was not willing to pay more than $35,000 to settle the case and that the Duffys’ were 

not willing to settle for any amount less than $40,000.  As a result, even if Forsberg had 

consulted with the Ardens and had devised a different settlement strategy – or simply 

immediately offered $35,000 – there is no indication in the record that the case would have 

settled. 

We hold that Forsberg was entitled to summary judgment on the alleged breach of its 

fiduciary duty of loyalty regarding the failure to consult with the Ardens before rejecting 

settlement demands and making counteroffers. 

F. LEGAL NEGLIGENCE – SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS 

The Ardens argue that Forsberg was negligent in not attempting to settle the Duffy 

lawsuit quickly in order to minimize Roff Arden’s potential exposure to criminal charges and to 

avoid exacerbating his depression and PTSD.  We hold that there is no evidence that Forsberg 

was negligent in making a judgment decision on extending the time for settlement negotiations. 

1.     Legal Principles 

To establish a claim of legal negligence, the plaintiff must prove four elements: 

(1) The existence of an attorney-client relationship which gives rise to a duty of 

care on the part of the attorney to the client; (2) an act or omission by the attorney 

in breach of the duty of care; (3) damage to the client; and (4) proximate causation 

between the attorney’s breach of the duty and the damage incurred. 
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Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey PC, 180 Wn. App. 689, 700-01, 324 

P.3d 743 (2014) (quoting Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 260-61, 830 P.2d 646 (1992)).  An 

attorney satisfies the duty of care if he or she exercises “ ‘the degree of care, skill, diligence, and 

knowledge commonly possessed and exercised by a reasonable, careful, and prudent lawyer in 

the practice of law’ in the state of Washington.”  Clark County Fire, 180 Wn. App. at 701 

(quoting Hizey, 119 Wn.2d at 261). 

Under the attorney judgment rule,  

an attorney cannot be liable for making an allegedly erroneous decision involving 

honest, good faith judgment if (1) that decision was within the range of reasonable 

alternatives from the perspective of a reasonable, careful and prudent attorney in 

Washington; and (2) in making that judgment decision the attorney exercised 

reasonable care.  

Clark County Fire, 180 Wn. App. at 704.  “Merely providing an expert opinion that the judgment 

decision was erroneous or that the attorney should have made a different decision is not enough; 

the expert must do more than simply disagree with the attorney’s decision.”  Id. at 706. 

2.     Extending the Time for Settlement 

The Ardens argue that they had an interest in a quick settlement of the Duffy lawsuit 

because of the pending decision on criminal charges and Roff Arden’s depression and PTSD and 

that Forsberg committed legal malpractice by disregarding this interest.  The Ardens appear to be 

referring to Forsberg’s decision to obtain an extension of time to respond to the Duffys’ initial 

$55,000 settlement demand when the Ardens had demanded that Hartford immediately agree to 

settle for that amount.  We disagree.9 

                                                 
9 The trial court ruled that these circumstances created a question of fact regarding breach of 

duty, but that any breach caused no recoverable damages.  Because our review is de novo, we are 

not bound by the trial court’s ruling on breach of duty.  And we can affirm on any basis 
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We assume, without deciding, that an attorney representing an insured in a reservation of 

rights case has an obligation to consider the insured’s “personal” interests, even though they may 

not directly affect the merits of the case.  Under Tank, only the insured is the defense attorney’s 

client, and a defense attorney arguably cannot disregard his or her client’s interests.  However, a 

client may have many, sometimes competing, interests that the attorney must consider in the 

exercise of his or her professional judgment in defending the case.  Under the attorney judgment 

rule, the question is whether an attorney’s particular judgment decision is within the range of 

reasonable alternatives or whether the attorney was negligent during the decision-making 

process.  Clark County Fire, 180 Wn. App. at 704. 

Here, the Ardens had an interest in the prompt settlement of the case.  However, they 

were not willing to settle unless Hartford funded the settlement.  Therefore, the Ardens’ 

predominant interest was having Hartford fund any settlement.  When the Duffys made a 

settlement demand before providing their discovery responses, the Ardens’ two interests 

conflicted.  Without discovery responses, Hartford did not have enough information to evaluate 

the settlement demand.  Therefore, without an extension of time there was no possibility that 

Hartford would agree to fund the $55,000 settlement demand. 

The evidence shows that Forsberg made a judgment decision about the best way to obtain 

a settlement of the Duffy lawsuit with Hartford funding that settlement.  Forsberg determined 

that the best strategy was to obtain an extension of time for responding to the Duffys’ settlement 

demand until after Hartford had enough information to determine the settlement value of the 

                                                 

presented in the pleadings and record.  Wash. State Commc’n Access Project v. Regal Cinemas, 

Inc., 173 Wn. App. 174, 206-07, 293 P.3d 413 (2013). 
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claim.  The Ardens presented no evidence that this decision was outside the range of reasonable 

alternatives from the perspective of a reasonable, careful, and prudent attorney in Washington or 

that Forsberg somehow failed to exercise reasonable care in making that judgment decision.  

Accordingly, we hold that there is no evidence that Forsberg was negligent in delaying the 

beginning of settlement negotiations. 

CONCLUSION 

We affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Forsberg on both 

breach of the fiduciary duty of loyalty and legal negligence and the trial court’s denial of the 

Ardens’ summary judgment motions. 

  

 MAXA, A.C.J. 

 

 

 

We concur: 
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